
  
AGENDA 

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

INLAND EMPIRE UTILITIES AGENCY* 
AGENCY HEADQUARTERS, CHINO, CA 91708 

 
MONDAY, JUNE 11, 2018 

9:00 A.M. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

 
Members of the public may address the Board on any item that is within the jurisdiction of the Board; 
however, no action may be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is otherwise 
authorized by Subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2 of the Government Code.  Those persons wishing to 
address the Board on any matter, whether or not it appears on the agenda, are requested to complete and 
submit to the Board Secretary a “Request to Speak” form, which is available on the table in the Board 
Room.  Comments will be limited to five minutes per speaker.   Thank you. 

 

 
ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 
 

 
In accordance with Section 54954.2 of the Government Code (Brown Act), additions to the agenda 
require two-thirds vote of the legislative body, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a 
unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a need to take immediate action and that the 
need for action came to the attention of the local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted. 

 

 
 

1. ACTION ITEM 
 

A. MINUTES 
The Committee will be asked to approve the Audit Committee meeting 
minutes of March 12, 2018. 
 

B. FY 2018/19 ANNUAL AUDIT PLAN  
Staff recommends that the Committee/Board:   
 
1. Approve the FY 2018/19 Annual Audit Plan; and 
 
2. Direct the Manager of Internal Audit to finalize the FY 2018/19 Annual 
Audit Plan. 
 
 

















 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Submitted by:   

Teresa V. Velarde 

Manager of Internal Audit Department 

June 20, 2018 

 

  

Fiscal Year   

2018-2019 

 

The Annual Audit Plan is 

consistent with the Agency’s 

Business Goals of Fiscal 

Responsibility, Workplace 

Environment and Business 

Practices by ensuring that audits 

and recommendations evaluate 

and promote a strong control 

environment and assist 

management in achieving 

organizational goals.  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 2 of 13 
 

 
 
 

Annual Audit Plan Contents 

    Page 

Purpose of the Internal Audit Department 3 

Mission Statement & Values 4 

Purpose of the Annual Audit Plan 5 

Annual Audit Plan Methodology 6 

FY 2018/19 Annual Audit Plan 7 

On-Going Projects 8 

Outstanding Recommendations 9 

Long Range Audit Planning – Additional Audit Areas 10 

Risk Assessment Strategy & Audit Universe 12 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 13 
  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 3 of 13 
 

 
 
Purpose of the Internal Audit Department 
 

 

According to the Board-approved Charter, the purpose of the Internal Audit Department (Internal 

Audit or IA) is to assist the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee in fulfilling their oversight 

responsibilities for reporting, internal controls, and compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements applicable to Agency operations, and to provide objective assurance about the 

Agency’s operations.   

 

The purpose of the Internal Audit Department is also to provide consulting services, analyses, 

recommendations and information concerning the operations of the Agency as a service to 

management and as a way of adding value to improve the operations of the Agency.  Internal Audit 

assists management and staff in achieving organizational goals and objectives by providing 

recommendations and advisory services based on results of analysis of the Agency’s processes, 

procedures, governance, internal controls, financial reporting, and compliance with applicable 

laws and regulations. 

 

The Internal Audit Department follows the guidance of the globally accepted International 

Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (Standards) as documented in the 

International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF) and the Code of Ethics issued by the 

Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) (https://na.theiia.org).  This guidance is documented in the 

Internal Audit Department Charter. 

 

The Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Board of Directors through the Audit 

Committee. The Internal Audit Department has a dotted line reporting relationship to the General 

Manager and works in cooperation with the Executive Management Team but, as described in the 

Charter and according to the IIA Standards and best practices, is an independent function from 

Agency management, to provide objective analysis and recommendations.  Independence is 

essential to the effectiveness of internal auditing and is emphasized by the Institute of Internal 

Auditors (IIA).  The authority and responsibilities of the Internal Audit Department are specifically 

defined in the Internal Audit Department Charter approved by the Board of Directors. 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 4 of 13 
 

 

 

 
 
Internal Audit Department Values 
The Internal Audit Department has adopted the following value 
statements that form the foundation for the Internal Audit Department: 
 

Independence 
As documented in the Charter, the Internal Audit Department is an independent 
function of the Agency for the purpose of providing independent, objective, unbiased 
opinions.   
 

Integrity 
The Internal Audit Department staff is required to maintain the highest degree of 
integrity in conducting its audit work.   
 

Professionalism 
The Internal Audit Department will perform its work with professionalism at all times.  
 

Collaboration 
The Internal Audit Department will foster collaboration with all Agency personnel to 
promote teamwork within the various business units. 
 
 
  

Mission Statement 
The Internal Audit Department seeks to improve the operations of the Agency by providing 

unbiased and objective assessments to ensure Agency resources are efficiently and effectively 

managed in order to achieve Agency goals and objectives.  The Internal Audit Department 

will help the Agency achieve accountability and integrity, improve operations and instill 

confidence among its employees and the citizens it serves by:  

• Promoting a sound control environment. 

• Providing independent, objective assurance and consulting services. 

• Improving Agency risk management, control and governance. 

• Promoting the Agency’s vision and mission with a high degree of professionalism. 



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 5 of 13 
 

Purpose of the Annual Audit Plan 
 
The Annual Audit Plan (Audit Plan) has been prepared in accordance with recommendations and 

best practices provided by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA). The Audit Plan allows the 

Manager of Internal Audit to carry out the responsibilities of the Internal Audit Department by 

prioritizing projects and allocating necessary resources where audit efforts are deemed appropriate 

and necessary.  The Audit Plan is created to assist management and the Board in achieving 

organization goals and objectives.  

 

The Audit Plan is a flexible plan of internal audit activities and was developed using an appropriate 

risk-based methodology, including any risks or control concerns identified or communicated by 

Management, the Internal Audit Department, External Auditors, the Audit Committee’s 

Independent Advisor, the Audit Committee or Board.  Additionally, IA evaluated the reports that 

came through the Agency’s anonymous hotline, EthicsPoint, to determine if any of the reported 

items are under the purview and scope of IAs activities or should be considered in planning audit 

projects. The overall objective is to develop a plan consistent with the Agency’s goals and 

objectives, to address the highest risk areas within the Agency and to evaluate and contribute to 

the improvement of risk management, control and governance processes, additionally to add value 

by recommending opportunities for improvements to increase effectiveness and efficiency of 

operations. 

 

To provide practical guidance and an authoritative framework for the development of the Annual 

Audit Plan, the Internal Audit Department recognizes the following items:  Achieving one hundred 

percent audit coverage each year is not practical or achievable.  It should be noted that audit 

resources are limited; therefore, a system for prioritizing audits has been employed.  The Annual 

Audit Plan must be a flexible plan and should be amended periodically as deemed necessary to 

reprioritize areas that require attention.  In preparing the Annual Audit Plan, consideration is given 

to the work performed by other auditors, regulatory authorities, established rules, laws and 

ordinances and the Agency’s system of controls.  Auditable areas are ranked by knowledge of 

known or perceived areas of risk and understanding of the systems of internal controls.  It should 

be noted that there are inherent risks, residual risks and limitations with any methodology applied 

when prioritizing risks and ranking audit projects; risk factors exist with any system of controls.    

 

As stated in the Internal Audit Department Charter, the Manager of Internal Audit will set audit 

frequencies, select the subjects and set objectives, determine the scope of work and apply the 

techniques required to accomplish the audit objectives.  The Manager of Internal Audit has the 

authority to deviate from the approved annual Audit Plan, when necessary, and if warranted by 

unforeseen issues that require immediate attention.  The Manager of Internal Audit will use 

professional discretion and judgment in response to such unforeseen issues and resolve them 

according to the requirements of the Charter.  Significant changes to or deviations from the 

approved Annual Audit Plan shall be reported to the Audit Committee and to the Board at the next 

regularly scheduled Audit Committee meeting. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 6 of 13 
 

Both the IAD Charter and the IIA's Code of Ethics have strict standards of ethical conduct for 

internal auditors. Internal auditors have a responsibility to maintain independence, ensure integrity, 

objectivity, confidentiality and competency in work performed.   

 

Annual Audit Plan Methodology 
 
In planning for the Internal Audit projects the following were also considered:  

 

• The Internal Audit Department Charter 

• The Audit Committee Charter 

• Communications with the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors 

• Communications with Executive Management and key Agency personnel 

• Communications with the External Financial Auditors 

• Communications with the Audit Committee Independent Advisor 

• Prior audit findings and recommendations 

• Assessed risks in business practices and operations 

• Agency’s goals and objectives, including activities, developments and changes 

• Agency policies & procedures 

• Key areas that affect revenue and expenses 

• Identified opportunities to improve operations and add value to services  

• New audit requirements, audit trends and leading practices 

• Audit Department resources 

 

For the Fiscal Year 2018/19 Annual Audit Plan, the audits were selected based on all things 

considered as discussed above, the results of audits completed, risks identified and auditor 

judgement.  Significant deviations and changes to the Audit Plan will be communicated to the 

Audit Committee through an Amended Audit Plan and progress information is provided through 

Quarterly Status Reports presented to the Audit Committee. 

  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 7 of 13 
 

FY 2018/19 Annual Audit Plan:  
 

The first 2 audits (Reserve Obligations and Inter-Fund Transfers) were scheduled for 
2017/18; but were deferred due to prioritizing the P-Card Audit and the Garden In Every 
School Program Audit which were considered a higher priority during the time.  
 

 

 

Reserve Obligations 

To evaluate whether the Agency complies with all Agency policies, legal and regulatory 

requirements for maintaining the required and/or necessary reserve balances and if balances are 

invested or available as mandated by those reserve obligation requirements/policies. 

 

 

 

Inter-Fund Transfers  

To evaluate whether the Agency complies with all Agency policies, legal and regulatory 

requirements over inter-fund transfers and whether transfers are documented appropriately and 

recorded accurately in the Agency’s financial statements.  

 

 

 

Fleet Management Audit 

Evaluate controls over the procurement, accountability, issuance and maintenance over Agency 

fleet vehicles.  

  

 

 

Fuel Card Program Audit 

Evaluate internal controls over the use of the Agency’s Fuel Card to ensure it meets the 

requirements of the Agency’s policies, and there are sufficient controls in place to ensure it is 

safeguarded from loss, theft, misuse or abuse and it is used in the most effective manner. 

 

 

 

Follow-up Reviews to evaluate the status of outstanding recommendations 

As required by the Charters and audit standards, IA will follow up on the status of outstanding 

recommendations to determine if corrective actions or alternate internal controls were 

implemented.  To-date there are 110 outstanding audit recommendations, 81 which require follow-

up action and 30 are deferred.  Follow-up reviews are scheduled as noted in the chart that follows 

on Page 9. 

 

 
  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 8 of 13 
 

On-Going Projects for FY 2018/19 
 

❖ Internal Audit Department Quality Assurance and Improvement Program 

❖ Assist with annual CAFR Review and Filing 

❖ Review and update IA Department and Committee Charters 

❖ Continue to assist with SAP internal control inquiries 

❖ Continue to participate with the Enterprise Content Management System (ECMS) 

Committee, Safety Committee and the Technology/Cybersecurity Committees. 

❖ Provide needed support related to audit topics, internal controls, Agency policies 

and procedures and compliance items 

❖ Further utilize capabilities of SAP to enhance IA functions 

❖ On-going required administrative reporting, such as, budget, goals/objectives, staff 

appraisals, and other administrative items. 

❖ Conduct special requests and/or unforeseen projects 

❖ Provide recommendations to strengthen/streamline policies and procedures  

❖ Update IA Annual Audit Plan and corresponding Risk Assessment 

❖ Continue to work with auditees to resolve outstanding recommendations 

❖ Assist with requests for internal controls questions, discussions and evaluations 

❖ Continue to review, update and document IA Policies and Procedures 

❖ Continuous Professional Development of all auditors 

❖ Plan, prepare and coordinate Audit Committee Meetings 

❖ Utilize the IA site on AIM as an Agency-wide communication tool 

❖ Unannounced Petty Cash Audits 

❖ Provide "audit approach" presentations to requesting departments and/or for/within 

professional associations as a guest speaker 

 

  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 9 of 13 
 

Outstanding Recommendations 
The Internal Audit Department Charter requires follow-up action be taken to ensure that 

management has effectively implemented recommendations or alternate controls have been 

incorporated to mitigate the risks identified. Follow-up audit work includes detailed testing and 

verification by Internal Audit staff.  Below is a table of the Outstanding Recommendations:   

 

Area Audited Report Issued Date 

No. of Recs. 

Remaining to be 

Verified by IA 

 

 

Planned Follow-Up 

Payroll Audit August 24, 2010 1 Annually 

Intercompany Receivables - Watermaster August 30, 2011 1 FY 2019 

SCE Utility Payments August 28, 2013 1 FY 2019 

Accounts Payable Follow-Up August 29, 2013 9 FY 2019 

Automobile Insurance Requirements March 3, 2014 2 FY 2019 

Vehicle Security Procedures March 3, 2014 3 FY 2019 

Vehicle Inventory Procedures March 12, 2014 13 FY 2019 

Follow-Up – IT Equipment Audit – ISS  February 29, 2016 2 FY 2020 

Master Trade Contracts September 1, 2016 6 FY 2020 

Follow-Up – IT Equipment Audit – FAD December 5, 2016 6 FY 2020 

Audit of Master Services Contracts December 5, 2016 3 FY 2020 

2017 Petty Cash Audit & Follow-Up Review June 5, 2017 7 FY 2020 

Water Use Efficiency Programs Audit June 5, 2017 6 FY 2020 

Contracts and Procurement Follow-Up Audit August 30, 2017 1 FY 2020 

Payroll Operations Audit August 30, 2017 6 FY 2020 

Procurement Card Audit March 1, 2018 7 FY 2021 

Wire Transfers Audit March 1, 2018 5 FY 2021 

Total Outstanding Audit Recommendations 79  

Recommendations related to the Regional Contract Review 
(these recommendations are planned for full implementation with the renegotiation of the Regional Contract  

IA will not follow up on these unless requested to do so or after the new contract is executed.) 

Regional Contract Review – 

Final Audit Report 
December 16, 2015 31 

Pending – 

Renegotiation of the 

Regional Contract 

*See the Report of Open Recommendations under separate cover. 

 

During FY 2017/18, IA reviewed and verified the implementation status of 5 open 

recommendations related to 2 different audits.  The list reports there are 79 open recommendations, 

of which 19 recommendations relate to audits completed recently.  An additional separate 31 

recommendations relate to the Regional Contract Review, which will most likely be implemented 

through the renegotiation of the Regional Contract.  Because all audit resources were utilized 

primarily for this effort, follow-up activities were temporarily on hold.  Audit guidelines suggest 

that an adequate amount of time be granted to provide auditees with sufficient time to implement 

corrective action plans.  Follow-up audit work for some of the open recommendations will be 

incorporated and completed along with the proposed projects.  Required follow-up audit work will 

include a desk review of supporting documentation, follow-up discussions with the auditee, and/or 

the application of testing procedures to verify implementation.  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 10 of 13 
 

Long Range Audit Planning - Additional / Possible Audit Areas 
Internal Audit has identified additional audit areas.  This list has been compiled as a preliminary 

list of future potential audits and as a list of additional, important audit areas where audit resources 

and efforts could be utilized. This is not a comprehensive/complete list.  These audit areas have 

been selected based on identified risks at the time of completing this Audit Plan.  If the risk/priority 

in any of the identified auditable areas increases, IA would perform the required audit/evaluation.  
 

Accounts Payable Audit – Review of Agency Credit Cards  

Select a specific vendor or types of payments, for example travel credit cards and gas credit 

cards to ensure that transactions do not bypass the required procurement processes. 

• Review financial transactions and supporting documents 

• Evaluate internal controls  

• Compliance with policies and procedures 
 

Duplicate Payments/Late Payments/Fees and Penalties 

This area was covered during the previous Accounts Payable audit.  The goal for this audit is to 

make this a recurring evaluation to check for the three types of payments (duplicates, late 

payments or preventable fees and penalties).  This audit would cover a greater sample and would 

implement an audit program to periodically check for these types of payments. 
 

Data Analytics 

Fully utilize existing technology to gather additional data and analytical information to assist 

auditing.  In addition, explore and expand utilizing new technology and tools to build and 

customize dashboards, reports and other analytics tools to assist with audit reviews and 

monitoring of transactions in various areas, such as payments, payroll, contract payments, etc.  
 

Travel Expenses and Policy Compliance 

Review Agency policies and internal controls as they relate to employee travel expenses and 

reimbursements to ensure adequate procurement methods are followed and policy requirements 

for appropriate reimbursements are followed. 
 

Water Connection Fee 

To evaluate the controls over the collection and recognition of revenue for the Water Connection 

Fee implemented in 2016, including ensuring adequate segregation of duties and procedures are 

in place to reconcile new water connections to ensure all water connection fees are being 

collected. Audit procedures will include: a review of internal controls; compliance with Agency 

policies and procedures; and the effectiveness and efficiency of operations.  The departments 

with the primary responsibility are the Planning and Finance and Accounting Departments. 
 

Capital Projects  

The external financial auditors noted deficiencies with the process for closing completed capital 

projects.  Projects were left open long after the project had been completed, therefore, impacting 

the accounting value of capital assets. This audit would focus on evaluating when open capital 

projects have been completed and examining when the construction in progress balances are 

closed to capital assets.  The departments primarily engaged are the Finance and Accounting 

and the Engineering departments. 



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 11 of 13 
 

 

Various or Other Agreements  

Evaluate the variety of special and/or other types of agreements the Agency may have with other 

agencies or vendors that may or may not be formalized under an official Agency contract.  This 

audit would also evaluate whether the special agreements provide preferential treatment or 

significant discounts/credits when compared to similar agencies for similar services. 

 

Telephone Expense  

The Agency pays for telephone services provided by landline phones, smartphones, and for data 

connections.  Audit areas include the following: 

• Determine efficiencies that could be achieved through consolidating billings 

• Identify ways to streamline billing processes 

• Comparison of charges on different bills to ensure consistency and accuracy 

• Identify opportunities for savings 

• Evaluate whether phones issued to employees are used for the intended purpose 

according to Agency policies 

 

Bid and Selection Process for Construction Contracts  

To review the bid and selection process to ensure all legal and regulatory requirements are 

considered in the process, including grant requirements, where applicable, and that all contracts 

include required language.  Additionally, to evaluate the process to award contracts and projects 

to pre-qualified contractors/vendors and ensure processes conform to legal and Board-approved 

requirements and are documented in formal operating procedures. 

 

Asset Management  

The Agency currently has $1.1 billion in total assets.  An audit of this area would evaluate the 

accountability and controls to ensure assets are properly recorded in the Agency’s financial 

records. Additionally, to determine if periodic inventories or other valuation processes are 

performed to validate the amount of assets reported in accounting records.  

 

Operations   

Facility Operations, Groundwater Recharge and Organics Management are programs under 

Operations Administration.  The audit scope of any of these areas would focus on required 

permit compliance requirements, preventive maintenance of plants, staff training and staff 

certifications to operate plants/facilities, chemical and equipment use, and customer service to 

the service area, where applicable.  

 

Recycled Water Program – Revenue  

Recycled water revenue in FY 2016/17 was almost $16.4 million.  An audit of this area would 

determine the accuracy of revenues and identify any additional revenue due the Agency. The 

Finance and Accounting and the Planning departments will be the primary contact departments.  

 
  



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 12 of 13 
 

Risk Assessment Strategy 
  

The IIA IPPF standard 2120 states that Internal Audit must evaluate the effectiveness and 

contribute to the improvement of risk management processes. 

 

The IIA IPPF defines Risk as follows: 

 

• Risk – The possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact on the achievement of 

objectives.  Risk is measured in terms of impact and likelihood and; 

 

• Residual Risks – As the risk remaining after management acts to reduce the impact and 

likelihood of an adverse event, including control activities in response to a risk. 

 

The risk assessment is a general assessment performed using best practice guidance, professional 

judgment and consideration for the impact on the Agency’s operations if the targeted units fail to 

function in the most effective and efficient manner or neglect to comply with required policies.  In 

performing the Risk Assessment for this FY 2018/19 Annual Audit Plan, the following were 

considered: 

 

• Agency Policies and Procedures 

• Communication with the External Auditors  

• Communication with the Audit Committee and Board 

• Communications with key Agency personnel 

• Assessing risks and exposures that may affect the organization 

• New Agency activities, developments and major changes 

• Key areas that affect revenue and expenses 

• Observations resulting from previous audits and reviews 

• New audit requirements and trends 

• Opportunities to improve operations  

 

 

Audit Universe 
 

The IIA PPF defines Universe as all possible auditable areas.  For the purposes of this Annual Audit 

Plan, the universe includes all Agency Departments, operations, contracts, transactions, processes, 

and activities.   



 

 

 

 

 

Internal Audit Department  
Annual Audit Plan 
For Fiscal Year 2018/19 
Page 13 of 13 
 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Program  
 
The Institute of Internal Auditing (IIA), International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF) 

defines a Quality Assurance and Improvement Program: “A quality assurance and improvement 

Program is designed to enable an evaluation of internal audit activity’s conformance with the 

Definition of Internal Auditing and the Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors 

apply the Code of Ethics.  The program also assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal 

audit activity and identifies opportunities for improvement.”  

 

Standard 1311 of the IPPF requires that internal assessments include ongoing monitoring of the 

performance of internal audit activity; and periodic reviews performed through self-assessments. 

 

Standard 1312 of the IPPF requires that external assessments be conducted at least once every five 

years by a qualified, independent reviewer or review team from outside the organization.    

 

As part of IA’s commitment for continued quality audit services, beginning FY 2019/20, IAD will 

perform internal assessments of the IAD.  An external assessment by an independent reviewer is 

planned for FY 2020/21. Results will be presented and discussed at the regularly scheduled Audit 

Committee meetings.  

  







































 

  

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Prepared by:  
Internal Audit Department 
May 31, 2018 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 2 of 24 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 3 of 24 

 
Executive Summary 

 
Business Goal  
The Garden in Every School® program is consistent with the Agency’s Business Goals of 
Environmental Stewardship, Water Reliability, and Business Practices by the installation 
of water wise gardens at schools (grades K-12) that engage and promote environmental 
responsibility, water use efficiency and reliability, and further the Agency’s Vision to 
enhance and preserve the quality of life throughout the region by engaging in public 
outreach through education programs that benefit the community.  
 
The Internal Audit Department’s (IA) evaluation of the Garden in Every School® program 
is consistent with the Agency’s Business Goals of Fiscal Responsibility, Workplace 
Environment and Business Practices by ensuring objective, independent evaluations 
provide recommendations for improving and safeguarding the Agency’s fiscal health, 
promote a strong control environment and assist management in achieving organizational 
goals. 
 
 
Authority 
At the request of the Audit Committee Chair and with direction from the General Manager, 
IA collaborated with External Affairs (EA) and the Planning and Environmental Resources 
(Planning) Departments to perform an evaluation of the Garden in Every School® (GIES) 
program. Since its inception in 2004, the program has led to the installation of gardens at 
62 schools within IEUA’s service area. 
 
 
Scope 
The objectives of the evaluation were to:  

• Evaluate if the gardens are being used as intended 

• Evaluate whether students are receiving value from the garden 

• Identify observations and opportunities to improve the program 
 
 
Audit Procedures Applied 

• Interviews of Agency staff 

• Interviews of school administration 

• Interviews of Chino Basin Water Conservation District staff 

• Physical observations of gardens 

• Review of supporting information 

• Review of prior evaluation reports for the program 
 

  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 4 of 24 

Summary of IA Observations  
IA observations include (additional information and details are included in the full report):  
 

• The GIES program began in 2004/05 
 

• It costs between $12,000 and $50,000 a year to implement the GIES program (not 
including staff time and other indirect costs to manage the program) 
 

• 62 gardens have been installed since the inception of the program 
 

• 47 (76%) of the gardens are still in existence, although some of these have been 
abandoned or serve only as landscape features 
 

• 15 (24%) have been removed for various reasons (construction, closure, other)  
 

• 12 of the 47 gardens still in place, were awarded a $1,000 “mini-grant” during this 
fiscal year (2017/18) 

o 5 of the 12, previously received a mini-grant in 2013/14 
o 4 of the 12, installed their original garden last year (2016/17) and were 

awarded a mini-grant the following year 
 

• 35 (74%) of the 47 gardens still in existence, were physically observed by either 
IA or EA (those that did not receive a “mini-grant” this fiscal year). 
 

• 6 (17%) of the 35 gardens observed, are not actively used by the school (drought 
tolerant landscape) and 11 (31%) get “minimal” use for education purposes 
 

• IEUA’s EA and Planning staff spend significant time working to select the gardens, 
provide training to schools, coordinating the installation of gardens, providing 
curriculum material and reviewing budget and other information to ensure the 
program is implemented. 

 
Summary of IA Recommendations 
IA provides the following recommendations for staff’s consideration. Additional 
background and detailed information about each observation and recommendation is 
provided in the attached report, External Affairs’ responses have also been incorporated 
throughout the report. 
 

1. Reevaluate, update and document the goals and objectives for the GIES program 
to ensure that the program is aligned with the Agency’s vision, mission, goals and 
objectives.  The Agency should consider whether the GIES program is the most 
effective means to meet Agency goals and evaluate whether the program ensures 
those goals are addressed.  
 

2. Determine how best to coordinate the various responsibilities for the GIES 
program.  Currently two different Agency departments are responsible for different 
functions to manage the program, one (Planning) manages the contract with Chino 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 5 of 24 

Basin Water Conservation District and the related fund and budget for the program. 
The other (EA) manages the program implementation.  Additionally, CBWCD acts 
as the outside contractor and completes the garden installations.  The Agency 
should consider what efficiencies could be achieved, through either consolidating 
or at minimum, scheduling periodic progress meetings or workshops with all 
parties to discuss the program goals, achievement of those goals, lessons learned, 
things that need to be changed, and how best to provide greater authority and 
accountability to effectively manage the program.    
 

3. Provide an annual written and oral report to the Board of Directors about the GIES 
program, that includes:  

• The program’s goals and objectives and how those align with Agency goals, 

• how the program addressed and met those goals, 

• funding, costs/expenses, and resources, 

• participating school information,  

• school selection process, 

• number of students who potentially benefit and/or participate in the program 

• updated pictures showing the conditions of the gardens  

• program participant survey results, and 

• program assessment and recommendations 
 

4. Continue to oversee and monitor installed gardens at schools, including: 

• conducting periodic follow-up site-visits and evaluations to ensure that both, 
the Agency’s and the GIES program, goals and objectives are carried out, 

• providing school administrators with additional, well-defined guidelines, 
requirements and expectations, 

• ensuring gardens are used as intended and students participate in hands-
on learning activities. 

 
5. Employ a proactive method to remain in close contact and communication with the 

schools that have installed gardens, ideas include:  
 

• Ensuring adequate professional staffing for this function, 

• obtaining up-to-date contact information each fall for each school that has 

participated in the GIES program, including verifying the current Principal 

from a review of School District information and the school’s website and 

confirming by making in-person, e-mail and/or telephonic contact with 

appropriate school personnel to ensure contact information is up to date, 

• providing and regularly updating a blog, newsletter or other on-going 

correspondence to ensure continuous and consistent communication with 

schools throughout the school year, and 

• creating and providing to all participating schools an up-to-date directory of 

past and current GIES school participants so that schools can network with 

one another and share resources and information. 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 6 of 24 

6. Provide each school with permanent identifying information to post in the garden 
such as a sign or plaque that includes information about the garden’s sponsors 
(IEUA, member agency and other) including the Agency’s website and contact 
information so that future school administrators and garden visitors are aware of 
IEUA, including who and where to contact if the garden requires attention. 
 

7. Develop a post-implementation evaluation of gardens after they have been in 
existence for an agreed upon amount of time. The purpose would be to gather 
feedback and information about the materials and equipment used for installing 
the garden and ensure this meets both the goals of the program and needs of the 
schools; or if anything needs to change.  All parties involved in the installation, 
including Agency staff and most importantly the contractor, CBWCD should 
observe and discuss the following: 

• best materials for garden creation,  

• irrigation effectiveness and how to best demonstrate water-use efficiency, 

• timer systems effectiveness and access to electricity, 

• programmatic implications for the school’s curriculum, and 

• proportion of the students with access or involvement with the garden. 
 
 
In discussions with school principals and teachers who have participated in the GIES 
program, many are very happy and excited about their gardens.  They indicated that they 
believe in and appreciate the GIES program and the opportunity; however, they do not 
always have the time or resources to make the gardens a high priority given the 
constraints of the regular school schedule, education requirements and sometimes the 
lack of support and/or funding.  However, several gardens appear to be in great shape 
and are fully utilized for students to engage in hands-on learning activities.  
 
Of the 62 gardens installed through the Garden in Every School® program, 15 have been 
removed, 6 consist of drought tolerant landscaping features and 11 receive only minimal 
use, leaving 30 (48%) that are still in existence and being actively used for educational 
purposes.  Moving forward with the GIES program, staff should evaluate the program and 
consider implementing the recommendations made in this report, or determine alternate 
approaches to address the observations identified through this review.   
 
External Affairs Department’s Response 
The GIES program has many opportunities to continue to grow and evolve.  The program 
acts as a valuable resource to students, educators, administrators and the community 
about water-use efficiency and provides a communication opportunity to discuss 
incorporating State educational standards and opens the door to other Agency-offered 
water education programs while making water-use efficiency connections. 
 
It is important to consider the educational trends that include STEM (Science, 
Technology, Engineering and Math) and NGSS (Next Generation Science Standards) 
within the school curriculum.  The GIES program and related curriculum development and 
training from Project WET (Water Education for Teachers) allows educators an 
opportunity to implement these standards into their everyday curriculum. 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 7 of 24 

Internal Audit’s Report of 
the Garden in Every School® Program  

  
GIES Program Background 
At the request of the Audit Committee Chair and with direction from the General Manager, 
the Internal Audit Department (IA) collaborated with the External Affairs Department (EA) 
and the Planning and Environmental Resources Department (Planning) to perform an 
evaluation of the Garden in Every School® (GIES) program.  
 
Since its inception in 2004 the GIES program has installed school gardens at 62 K-12 
schools within IEUA’s service area.  Of the 62 gardens, 15 (24%) gardens have been 
removed.  Of the 62, 12 (19%) gardens are current year recipients of mini-grants where 
the schools received additional funding (up to $1,000) to spruce up their existing gardens 
and purchase tools and equipment (“mini-grants” are explained in more detail later in this 
report).  Those 12 gardens were not physically evaluated as part of this review under the 
expectation that current garden work is underway.  For this evaluation, IA participated in 
site visits and the assessment of the remaining 35 gardens (56%).  This report, provides 
observations and recommendations based on the evaluation of the 35 gardens. 
  
The GIES program is operated by EA, which is responsible for the Agency’s community 
relations, public outreach and education programs. EA performs outreach, works closely 
with schools and provides information and an educational seminar and are responsible 
for monitoring the application and selection process for new gardens and mini-grants.   
Planning is responsible for determining available funding, monitoring expenses of the 
program and securing the contract and working closely with the Chino Basin Water 
Conservation District (CBWCD).  CBWCD is contracted by IEUA for the design and 
installation of the school gardens, including building the vegetable beds, installing the 
irrigation system and controllers, planning the selected plants and trees and providing 
advice on the garden needs to the school.  CBWCD bills IEUA for labor for installation of 
the gardens. The individual schools are responsible for the on-going success of their 
garden and using it for hands-on student educational activities. 
  
Garden in Every School® Program Information 
IEUA implemented the GIES program in the 2004-2005 fiscal year with the selection of 
seven schools as the initial recipients of garden installations.  Since then, a total of 62 
gardens have been installed throughout the IEUA service area.  The goal of the program 
is described in the purpose statement in the application form that prospective schools are 
provided and must complete.  The purpose statement has remained consistent over the 
life of the program.  The description states: 
 

The purpose of the GIES program is to educate school-age children and their 
families, school staff, and other community members about the efficient use 
of water through the establishment of thematic school gardens that feature 
climate appropriate plants and more efficient irrigation methods that are 
coordinated with provision state-aligned curriculum materials. 

 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 8 of 24 

Over the years, the program has evolved while maintaining the goal of promoting water 
conservation education programs.  The program now cycles between years when new 
gardens are installed (generally up to four gardens a year) and years when mini-grants 
are provided to 12 to 14 schools to help improve existing gardens.  Mini-grants were 
provided in the 2013/14 and 2017/18 program years. Mini-grants are additional funding, 
up to $1,000 to help the school spruce up their existing garden and to purchase needed 
tools and supplies.  
 
Funding for the GIES program 
Funding for the GIES program is provided primarily from the Meter Equivalent Unit (MEU) 
charges paid by the Agency’s member water agencies (Chino, Chino Hills, Fontana Water 
Company, Monte Vista Water District, Ontario, Upland and Cucamonga Valley Water 
District).  These funds are intended to support the Agency’s water fund and water 
conservation projects and provide the Agency between $4 million and $5 million in 
revenues annually.  The funds target projects that include water conservation program 
efforts including the GIES program.  IEUA staff discuss potential water conservation 
efforts with the member agencies annually including the funding for the GIES program.  
Total projects undertaken are based on an annual consensus between IEUA and its 
member agencies.  
 
IEUA’s GIES program currently provides a $4,500 grant to each school (up to 4 schools 
per fiscal year) for direct costs of plants, materials and supplies needed for the installation 
of the garden in the selected schools, all located within the Agency’s service area.  The 
grant is used directly for the necessary, garden-related items at the school.  In addition, 
the GIES program separately funds the labor costs for designing and installing the 
gardens through a contract between CBWCD and the Agency.  These labor costs are 
paid through the GIES program in addition to the schools’ $4,500 grant amount.  The 
CBWCD contracting costs are billed to the Agency directly by CBWCD, according to 
agreed-upon contract terms. 
 
In some years, instead of establishing new gardens, the Agency has offered support 
grants (mini-grants) of up to $1,000 to existing school gardens to be used to rehabilitate 
and improve existing GIES gardens. 

 
Number of Gardens Installed in the recent Fiscal Years: 

(IEUA costs funded from the Meter Equivalent Unit charges from member agencies) 

Year Grant Total Schools 

Total Given 

to Schools 

2011/12 Gardens ($4,500 each) 4 Schools $18,000 

2012/13 Gardens ($4,500 each) 4 Schools $18,000 

2013/14 Mini-Grants ($1,000 each) 14 Schools $14,000 

2014/15 Gardens ($4,500 each) 3 Schools $13,500 

2015/16 Gardens ($4,500 each) 6 Schools $27,500 

2016/17 Gardens ($4,500 each) 4 Schools $18,000 

2017/18 Mini-Grants ($1,000 each) 12 Schools $12,000 

2018/19 Gardens ($4,500 each) 

4 Schools  

(*in progress) $18,000 

 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 9 of 24 

The design and labor for the gardens is provided by CBWCD through a subcontract with 
IEUA.  The amounts shown below are totals paid to CBWCD also paid for out of the Meter 
Equivalent Unit charges. The budgeted contractual amount for these services in recent 
years has been as follows: 
 

2016-2017:        $ 27,470 

2017-2018 (mini-grant year, no new gardens installed):  $ 0  

2018-2019:        $ 33,000 
 

Therefore, the total spent to install gardens in the most recent 3 fiscal years is: 

Year Activity 

Grant Monies 

Given to 

Schools 

CBWCD 

(Costs for Design 

& Installation 

Labor) 

Total Direct 

Costs 

Additional Indirect Costs not 

calculated or included as part of  

Total Direct Costs 

2016/17 

4  

new garden 

installations 

$4,500/ea 

$18,000 $27,470 $45,470 

IEUA staff time: Supervise CBWCD 

contract, school application/selection 

process, dedication ceremony, Project 

WET implementation, etc. 

2017/18 

 

12  

$1,000/ea 

mini-grants 

$12,000 $0 $12,000 

IERCF staff time for evaluation of 

mini-grant school sites.  IEUA staff 

time: School mini-grant 

application/selection process, 

dedication ceremony, Project WET 

implementation, etc. 

2018/19 

4  

new garden 

installations 

$4,500/ea 

$18,000 $33,000 $51,000 

IEUA staff time: Supervise CBWCD 

contract, school application/selection 

process, dedication ceremony, Project 

WET implementation, etc. 

 

Although these dollar-amounts may not appear to be material or significant when 
compared to the Agency’s overall expenses, programs and budgeted activities, the 
question to be answered is whether the funds and staff time are being utilized in the most 
effective ways to meet the intended overall Agency goals.   
 
Process for Installing a Garden 
EA hosts an annual Project WET (Water Education for Teachers) workshop for educators 
in IEUA’s service area using educational curriculum developed by the Project WET 
Foundation. This full-day workshop, organized, hosted and taught by EA staff, provides 
hands-on water education training.  Attendance is mandatory for any school applying for 
the installation of a new garden or a mini-grant to sustain existing gardens.   
 
Each year various factors are taken into consideration to determine which type of grant 
to offer.  These include interest shown in new gardens versus interest in maintenance of 
gardens and whether member agency representatives believe it is a good time to offer 
mini-grants versus new gardens.   
 
The actual planning, design and installation of the gardens is contracted to the Chino 
Basin Water Conservation District (CBWCD).  CBWCD works with schools to plan and 
design their gardens during the spring after the schools have been selected.  Schools are 
then responsible for clearing their sites and ensuring and providing access to water and 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 10 of 24 

electricity.  In the fall and winter the final design is agreed upon and installation of the 
garden is performed by CBWCD.  This requires several days of manual labor on the part 
of CBWCD.  Once the garden has been installed and the planting done, the school and 
IEUA host a dedication ceremony, generally in conjunction with an already existing school 
event, inviting IEUA Board members, local elected officials, school district administrators 
and community members.  Once responsibility for the garden has been transferred to the 
school site, there is little to no additional follow-up by IEUA or CBWCD, although both 
organizations are available as a resource.  The intention is for the school site to develop 
ownership of the garden and take responsibility for its ongoing success.  Periodically, 
IEUA makes site visits/inspections to review the condition of the school gardens.  
 
 
IEUA Service Area – GIES Map 
The map below that shows the location and the status of the 62 gardens, by Division. 
 

 
 

  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 11 of 24 

Internal Audit’s  
Observations and Recommendations 

 

Observation 1:  Program Goals and Objectives  
The GIES program should be reevaluated to formally document the goals and 
objectives of the program. The goals should be measurable so that these can be 
evaluated periodically.  The Agency should consider whether the GIES program is 
the most effective means to meet Agency goals and evaluate whether the program 
ensures those goals are addressed.  Additionally, the Agency should ensure the 
goals of the program are aligned with the Agency’s overall vision, mission, goals 
and objectives.  
 
Once measurable program goals and objectives are established and documented, the 
Agency can measure the program’s effectiveness and its achievements. The Agency 
should evaluate the GIES program in the context of all outreach efforts that promote 
water-use efficiency and consider the most effective use of the Agency’s and its member 
agencies’ time and resources to achieve the overall program goals. 
 
The introduction to the GIES grant application that schools read and complete states the 
program’s purpose as: 
 
“The purpose of the GIES program is to educate school-age children and their families, school 

staff, and other community members about the efficient use of water through the establishment of 

thematic school gardens that feature climate appropriate plants and more efficient irrigation 

methods that are coordinated with provision state-aligned curriculum materials.” 

 
Since its inception in 2004, the GIES program has installed 62 gardens in various schools 
in grades K-12 within IEUA’s service area.  The gardens are created and utilized as the 
school’s administration determines best.  For that reason, the gardens vary greatly from 
site to site; some are drought tolerant gardens and consist mainly of a landscaped area 
at the school, other gardens are fully utilized for vegetables, fruits and other flowers where 
hands-on activities are taught.  Other gardens have been neglected and are not used for 
any purpose due to staff changes and turnover, a lack of staff time and school resources 
or a lack of knowledge, interest or commitment.  Of the 62 gardens installed through the 
GIES program, 15 have been removed, 6 consist of drought tolerant landscaping features 
and 11 receive only minimal use, leaving 30 (48%) that are still in existence and being 
actively used for educational purposes.   
 
CBWCD, the Agency’s contractor responsible for the installation of gardens, indicated 
that they work to install any type of garden that the schools believe would be best to meet 
their requirements (with final discussion and approval from IEUA, who ensures gardens 
should be low water-use). The original garden design is a collaboration mostly between 
school administration and teachers with input from CBWCD.  Some schools have installed 
gardens that provide learning opportunities about planting crops and the crop lifecycle 
rather than specifically promoting water-use efficiency.  Also, the Agency’s contractor, 
CBWCD generally prefers to use low-flow sprinkler heads in most school gardens rather 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 12 of 24 

than teaching about water-use efficiency through drip irrigation out of concern that 
children digging around in the planting beds could damage drip irrigation systems. 
 
The new Next Generation Science Standards for California Public Schools, Kindergarten 
through Grade Twelve (CA NGSS or NGSS) as required by California Education Code 
60605.85 are currently in the implementation phase throughout the state.  These new 
standards emphasize hands-on learning and exploration.  This seems to have prompted 
GIES schools to take another look at their gardens and build curriculum using these 
standards.  Thus, planting beds, butterfly/bee habitat gardens and other more interactive 
uses are being explored. The question is whether such use is consistent with the original 
purpose of the garden installation and the grant requirements.  
 
During site visits and observations, IA noted instances not consistent with the original 
garden installation or the original requirements of the grant. The grant application and 
process do not provide for continuing involvement with IEUA that would ensure that 
schools continue to support the Agency’s goals and/or the original purpose of the GIES:  
 

• Of the original 62 gardens, 47 (76%) of the gardens are still in place and used in 
one way or another.  
 

• 15 (24%) have been removed entirely for reasons such as making room for new 
construction or due to school closures, etc.  
 

• Six (10% of 62 total) of the 47 gardens were purely displays of drought-tolerant 
landscaping with no need for active student involvement.  In several others, a 
portion of the garden was set aside to demonstrate drought tolerant landscaping. 
 

• 11 (18% of 62 total) of the 47 gardens receive only minimal use. 
 

• At least six schools (10%) were not aware of IEUA or of IEUA’s involvement in the 
establishment of their school garden. 
 

• Irrigation system issues were common.  At various sites where a timer was in use, 
no one knew how to operate it.  At other sites, battery operated timers had been 
set aside because of the cost of regularly changing batteries.  And, at other sites, 
the school district maintenance staff had either set all the irrigation areas on the 
same watering schedule or converted the watering schedule to the school-wide 
schedule. And finally, at yet other sites, all watering was being done manually, 
because there was no awareness of any prior automated system.  
 

• All sites had issues with summer breaks.  Solutions ranged from letting the garden 
die and starting fresh in the fall to having a dedicated teacher come to the school 
regularly on their own time to weed and water and everything in between. In two 
instances the on-site custodian would try to maintain the garden during the 
summer. 
 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 13 of 24 

Gardens that were successful, fully operational and used by students for educational 
purposes, had either a committed and passionate teacher/administrator or an involved 
principal that ensured the use of the gardens for hands-on learning opportunities and 
enjoyment. If a garden had been abandoned, it required a new passionate teacher or 
principal to restore the abandoned garden.  Restoration efforts included a creative teacher 
with the desire to refurbish the garden through grant writing to Home Depot and other 
sources, former students or relatives of teachers renovating a garden as their Eagle Scout 
project, and/or committed parent support or donations. Generally, passionate teachers, 
principals and/or their families also invested their own time and resources. 
 
Recommendation #1:   
The goals and objectives for the GIES program should be reevaluated, updated and 
documented to ensure that the program aligns with the Agency’s overall vision, 
mission, goals and objectives and/or the program’s original purpose.  Goals should 
be measurable and a formal evaluation of the program and whether the goals were 
achieved should be performed.  The Agency should consider if the GIES program 
is the most effective means to meet those goals.  
 
External Affairs’ Response 
The GIES program is ever-evolving based on school curriculum, needs and trends.  
Building this relationship with schools is significantly important to IEUA and its partners. 
Through GIES, participating schools, school boards, and maintenance districts are 
introduced to water-use efficiency opportunities through new irrigation techniques, low 
water use plants, and curriculum. 
 
The GIES program offers the school community an opportunity to learn about water-wise 
gardening, irrigation and curriculum.  This program has a positive impact on participants 
and can reach not only school staff and students, but parents and the community.  The 
program aligns with the Agency’s values and vision and business goals and has been 
supported by member agencies since its inception in 2004.  We recommend continuing 
the program and continuing to evolve the program based on trends and school needs. 
 
Observation 2: Effective Oversight & Accountability over all GIES Responsibilities  
The Agency should evaluate and consider the various responsibilities for the GIES 
program.  Currently two different Agency departments are responsible for different 
functions to manage the program, one (Planning) manages the contract with Chino 
Basin Water Conservation District and the related fund and budget for the program. 
The other (EA) manages the program implementation.  Additionally, CBWCD acts 
as the outside contractor and completes the garden installations.   The Agency 
should consider what efficiencies would be achieved through consolidation of 
responsibilities or at a minimum scheduling on-going meetings or workshops and 
ensure all team members share ideas and discuss the program goals, achievement 
of those goals, lessons learned, and how best to provide greater oversight and 
accountability to effectively manage all aspects of the GIES program.   
 
The Agency should determine how best to coordinate the various responsibilities for the 
GIES program.  Currently two different Agency departments are responsible for different 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 14 of 24 

functions to manage the program, one (Planning) manages the contract with Chino Basin 
Water Conservation District and the related fund and budget for the program. The other 
(EA) manages the program implementation.  Additionally, CBWCD acts as the outside 
contractor and completes the garden installations.  The Agency should consider what 
efficiencies could be achieved, through either consolidating or at minimum, scheduling 
periodic progress meetings or workshops with all parties to discuss the program goals, 
achievement of those goals, lessons learned, things that need to be changed, and how 
best to provide greater authority and accountability to effectively manage the program.    
 
The process of installing school gardens includes input and work by two different IEUA 
departments (EA and Planning), as well as CBWCD, sometimes IERCF staff and school 
administration.  IA recommends that all IEUA departments work together through 
meetings and on-going workshops to discuss the program, its goals and ideas or 
information about the program. With the decentralization of responsibilities, there is no 
single comprehensive oversight for whether the program is meeting its objectives and no 
overall analysis or accountability for the indirect costs incurred by the Agency.   
 

GIES Program Distribution of Responsibilities and Oversight 

IEUA 

External Affairs Department 

IEUA  

Planning & Environmental 

Resources Department 

Chino Basin Water 

Conservation District 
Schools 

• Handle day-to-day operations of the 

GIES program, including:  

o Liaison for the GIES program 

o Responsible for all GIES outreach 

and administrative activities 

o Selection of recipients to receive a 

new garden or mini grant 

o Coordinates and attends initial site 

evaluations with the school and 

CBWCD 

o Review the supporting documentation 

and approve payment to grant 

recipients 

o Purchase all materials needed for the 

garden  

(No longer applicable after 

2016/2017)   

o Coordination of the dedication 

ceremony 

 

• Provide additional curriculum and 

resources when available 

 

• Host the annual Project WET and GIES 

Workshop for new grants or mini-grants 

 

• Reports on the GIES program through 

the Community and Legislative Affairs 

Committee 

 

• Coordinate with Planning, schools and 

CBWCD 

• Manages funds for the Water 

Conservation Fund and GIES 

program 

 

• Handles contractual 

agreements with CBWCD 

 

• Approves invoices and 

payments to CBWCD 

 

• Reports on the GIES program 

in the Regional Water Use 

Efficiency Programs Report  

 

• Review grant applications 

with External Affairs 

 

• Coordinates with External 

Affairs and CBWCD 

 

• Design and construct school 

gardens, including:  

o Site visits and evaluations 

o Landscape design plans 

o Site and raised bed 

construction 

o Installation of controller 

and irrigation system 

o Planting Support 

o Troubleshooting 

o Equipment Rental, if 

needed (effective 

2018/2019) 

 

• Evaluate initial sites for the 

upcoming school year with 

External Affairs 

(if applicable) 

 

• Coordinate with schools and 

IEUA 

 

• Procurement of all necessary 

materials and provide receipts, 

invoices, and any purchase 

documentation as required 

(effective 2018/2019)  

• Responsible for Site prep, 

including: 

o Clean-up 

o Grading 

o Electrical and water 

connections 

 

 Effective 2018/2019: 

o Turf or other plant 

removal  

o Any issues pertaining to 

master irrigation valves 

o Underground utilities in 

the project area have been 

located and marked prior 

to any construction 

o Coordinate with CBWCD 

that site preparation has 

been completed 

 

• Responsible for on-going 

maintenance of the garden  

 

• Utilize the garden for on-going 

learning activities 

 

 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 15 of 24 

In this past year, IERCF staff has also been utilized to perform the site inspections for the 
mini-grant program resulting in indirect costs being incurred there. 
 
Recommendation #2:   
The Agency should evaluate and consider the various responsibilities for the GIES 
program.  Currently two different Agency departments are responsible for different 
functions to manage the program, one (Planning) manages the contract with Chino 
Basin Water Conservation District and the related fund and budget for the program. 
The other (EA) manages the program implementation.  Additionally, CBWCD acts 
as the outside contractor and completes the garden installations.   The Agency 
should consider what efficiencies would be achieved through consolidation of 
responsibilities or at a minimum scheduling on-going meetings or workshops and 
ensure all team members share ideas and discuss the program goals, achievement 
of those goals, lessons learned, and how best to provide greater oversight and 
accountability to effectively manage all aspects of the GIES program.   
 
External Affairs’ Response 
Currently, multiple departments are responsible for different functions to manage the 
program, but lack of authority and accountability create challenges to effectively 
managing the Agency’s efforts.    
 
Observation 3:  Annual Written and Oral Report about the GIES Program 
There is currently no regular reporting of the results of the GIES program.  Agency 
staff should consider providing both, an annual written and oral report to the Board 
of Directors and Executive Management about the GIES program. 
 

An annual evaluation communicates the goals and objectives of the program, provides 
information on the progress or status of the gardens and compares to how the program 
goals were achieved/measured. It also provides a way to ensure that the program is 
administered consistently from year to year, evaluations and updates are made to the 
program, that IEUA has a process for obtaining and maintaining a complete list of schools 
in the service area and their contact information, that the school selection process is 
administered impartially and that IEUA’s outreach efforts are consistent and complete.   
 
Without a formal documented report, there is no information or record about the purpose 
and progress of the program, how it was administered, what schools were involved, the 
future goals of the program, how the program is measured against its program goals and 
additional details about how the program supports the overall Agency mission.  This can 
lead to inconsistencies in the administration of the program and no documented 
measurement tool or feedback mechanism about where the program is headed in the 
future.  
 
  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 16 of 24 

Recommendation #3:   
Staff should provide an annual written and oral report to the Board of Directors 
about the GIES program, that includes:  

• The program’s goals and objectives and how those align with Agency goals 

• How the program addressed and met those goals 

• Funding, costs/expenses, and resources 

• Participating school information  

• Schools selection process 

• Number of students who potentially benefit and/or participate in the program 

• Updated pictures of garden conditions 

• Program participant survey results 

• Program assessment and recommendations 
 
Observation 4:  Continuing Involvement:  Monitoring, Oversight and Follow-up 
The Agency should determine an effective method for IEUA staff to continue to be 
involved with the gardens installed at each of the individual schools, including 
providing monitoring, oversight and follow-up site-visits/observations or 
evaluations to ensure the Agency’s mission and goals and objectives of the GIES 
program are emphasized and carried out.   
 
IEUA should determine whether it would be effective to continue to be involved to some 
degree with the school administration regarding the gardens after they have been 
installed.  The purpose would be to ensure the Agency’s mission, goals and objectives, 
as well as the GIES program goals and objectives are emphasized and carried out by the 
schools and to ensure the gardens are maintained and used for student hands-on 
educational activities.  Currently there is no contractual obligation that a school has with 
IEUA for executing the goals of the program.  The original application signed by the school 
includes a list of “qualifications” to be awarded the funding for the garden; however, these 
are not considered “contractual requirements” that IEUA can enforce to ensure the 
gardens are maintained and utilized as intended by the program.   
 
Agency staff should determine the intent and goals of the program and determine the 
Agency’s role with regards to the garden after installation.  Based in IA’s evaluation of 
various documents and information, it is undetermined what IEUA’s role should be after 
the garden has been installed at the school.  However, there may be two different 
approaches that the Agency may want to consider/take or determine a different role.  One 
approach may be that schools take the lead role and take ownership of their garden after 
installation and operate it as intended for their school’s purpose without IEUA having to 
monitor, follow-up, evaluate or enforce the intended goals and objectives of the program 
that funded it.  IEUA and/or CBWCD can provide additional advice and counsel if needed 
or asked for by the school, but the primary responsibility for the future success of the 
garden is dependent on the school and not on IEUA’s on-going monitoring and oversight.  
The second approach may be that IEUA works actively as a facilitator and stays involved 
and conducts periodic site visits to follow-up, monitor, keep current with communication 
and outreach efforts with the school’s administration to ensure the garden and the 
intended goals continue to be promoted and implemented.  This would be strongly 
dependent on IEUA’s on-going monitoring and oversight efforts.  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 17 of 24 

 
IAs observations were that where school gardens continue to grow, and be cared for, 
there is adequate support from the school’s administration to see the success of the 
garden due to a passionate staff member, support from parents and the overall culture of 
the school.  However, IA noted that many of the school gardens take a similar path over 
several years.  The initial interest and passion that was necessary to create a successful 
grant application and then garden installation lasts for a few years before some form of 
disruption occurs.  Most often the teacher or principal that initially championed the garden 
retires or moves to another school and interest in the garden fades away.  The school 
district or the school’s local maintenance staff take over a minimal amount of maintenance 
and the garden remains dormant.  At some point a new teacher or principal discovers the 
abandoned garden and develops an interest.  By this time there is no remaining 
institutional memory of IEUA or CBWCD’s involvement.  Generally, the new teacher or 
other school administrator solicits some assistance from either parents, teachers or other 
community groups to help reestablish the garden.  This leads to a renewal of interest in 
the garden and it once again becomes a focal point at the school. 
 
Agency staff should determine what role it should take after the garden has been installed.  
If the Agency would like to see that all schools fully utilize the gardens to demonstrate the 
Agency’s goals and priorities, it will require additional time and resources by Agency staff 
to assist in ensuring a strong education program is carried out and continuous monitoring 
and oversight is carried out.   
 
Recommendation #4:   
Staff should continue to oversee and monitor gardens at schools, including: 
 

• conducting periodic follow-up site-visits and evaluations to ensure that both, 
the Agency’s and the GIES program, goals and objectives are carried out, 

• providing school administrators with additional, well-defined guidelines, 
requirements and expectations, 

• ensuring gardens are used as intended and students participate in hands-on 
learning activities. 

 
External Affairs’ Response 
Every year the External Affairs team reaches out to all past GIES participants for whom 
EA still has contact information and invites them to attend the Project W.E.T. (Water 
Education for Teachers) Workshop, which provides water education curriculum to 
educators.  This curriculum training workshop explains the curriculum guide – the guide 
correlates with State standards, STEM and Next Generation Science Standards.  The 
workshop provides opportunities for educators that have participated in GIES to network 
with other participants while also providing a platform for questions and answers/problem-
solving. 
 
 
  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 18 of 24 

Observation 5: On-going Communication and Connection  
Agency staff should employ a proactive method to remaining in close contact and 
communication with the schools that have installed gardens.  
 
Although IEUA’s education programs are intended to provide opportunities for schools 
through-out the Agency’s service area, when some schools in the Agency’s service area 
are not aware of these educational programs, this results in missed opportunities for the 
Agency’s goals to be shared.  Of the 35 schools visited by IA or EA at least six and most 
likely more, had no knowledge of IEUA and no recollection of IEUA’s involvement in the 
initial establishment of their garden.  These school representatives also were unaware of 
the other programs that IEUA offers for schools such as Earth Day, the Water Discovery 
fieldtrips and Project WET.   
 
IA noted the following observations:   

• At one school, there had been a complete turnover of those originally involved in 
the installation of the garden.  The original sponsoring teacher had retired since 
the garden’s installation in 2008/2009 school year and the principal was only in her 
4th year at the campus.  As a result, there was no institutional memory of the 
garden’s founding, no awareness of IEUA’s original involvement and the garden 
had fallen into disrepair.  The new principal believed in the importance of school 
gardens and the school community engaged in a fundraising and grant-seeking 
effort that led to the refurbishment of the garden and its inclusion in the school’s 
curriculum. 

 

• At another site, the original teacher had passed away and the garden was not used 
for two years.  A new teacher at the school revived the garden and it was dedicated 
in honor of the teacher that had passed, but the school staff had no recollection of 
IEUA’s involvement.   

 

• Another site’s garden is situated in front of the school office and consists of foliage 
(some of which is drought tolerant) and a water feature.  The school’s custodian 
provides occasional maintenance of the water feature, but there is no awareness 
at the school of IEUA’s original funding. 

 

• Finally, another garden had been abandoned after a teacher had transferred.  A 
young man who had attended the school helped revive the garden as part of his 
Boy Scout eagle project requirement and the school had a nice plaque 
documenting his efforts, but again, no recollection of IEUA’s original involvement. 

 
Due to high turnover, changes in staff and changes in school administration, teachers 
and principals; awareness of IEUA’s programs is sometimes lost.  The schools mentioned 
above and others in the service area did not participate in IEUA’s mini-grant programs in 
2013/2014 and 2017/2018 or in IEUA’s other outreach/education programs.  Although EA 
staff tries to reach out to all schools and school districts, teacher and school administrative 
turnover create an on-going obstacle.  If the Agency would like to see that participating 
schools and teachers remain engaged and establish networks with other schools and 
teachers that participate in the program to share ideas and resources to ensure their 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 19 of 24 

gardens thrive and continue, it will require additional time and resources from Agency 
staff to assist in ensuring a strong garden community network is up to date, informed and 
on-going among the various schools.  
 
Recommendation #5:   
Agency staff should employ a proactive method to remaining in close contact and 
communication with the schools that have installed gardens, including:  

• Ensuring adequate professional staffing for this function, 

• Obtaining up-to-date contact information each fall for each school that has 

participated in the GIES program, including verifying the current Principal 

from a review of School District information and the school’s website and 

confirming by making in-person, e-mail and/or telephonic contact with 

appropriate school personnel to ensure contact information is up to date, 

• Providing and regularly updating a blog, newsletter or other on-going 

correspondence to ensure continuous and consistent communication with 

schools throughout the school year. 

• Creating and providing to all participating schools an up-to-date directory of 

past and current GIES school participants so that schools can network with 

one another and share resources and information. 

Recommendation #6: 
IA also recommends that the Agency provide each school with permanent 
identifying information to post in the garden such as a sign or plaque that includes 
information about the garden’s sponsors (IEUA, member agency and other) 
including the Agency’s website and contact information so that future school 
administrators and garden visitors are aware of IEUA, including who and where to 
contact if the garden requires attention. 
 
External Affairs’ Response 
Over 1/3 of school educators leave every five years.  External Affairs requires that a 
contingency plan be explained within the GIES application to address this staff turnover.  
The contract is always evolving based on school needs, trends, etc.  Once the garden 
has been created a dedication is held where IEUA staff and Board members can speak 
on behalf of the Agency and a framed certificate is presented to the school with the IEUA 
logo.  IEUA representation is on site during the program for pre-site evaluations, planning 
meetings and the dedication.  IEUA is the main point of contact for the program. 
 
EA believes there are opportunities to establish additional relationships and program 
commitments with our partner schools’ PTAs/parent groups.  IEUA can also establish a 
quarterly workshop that acts as a networking opportunity (like Project WET, etc.).  Some 
of these workshops can be held in our GIES Demonstration Garden that is located by the 
Pipe Garden in the Chino Creek Wetlands and Educational Park.  IEUA can enhance 
networking opportunities by providing a quarterly newsletter to schools featuring water-
wise gardening tips and water saving tips. 
 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 20 of 24 

Additionally, EA feels that there is an opportunity to grow the program and add to the 
outreach element.  There is an opportunity to require weather-proof signage at the garden 
site featuring IEUA, which provides a resource to school administration and staff, 
especially with school staff turnover rates.  
 
Observation 6: Post-Implementation Evaluation  
The Agency contracts with CBWCD for the design and installation of the GIES 
program gardens.  CBWCD works with the school to ensure that the garden meets 
the needs of that school’s program and efforts.  Once the installation is complete, 
CBWCD has no further continuing involvement with the school. 
 
Since CBWCD does not perform any post-implementation evaluation, no changes are 
made to the way gardens are designed and installed.  As previously noted, teachers and 
principals had shared a variety of concerns about their gardens with IA.  These included: 
 

a. The wooden edges of the raised beds tend to deteriorate in three to four years.  
One teacher noted that recycled poly-wood lasts much longer and that the cost of 
refurbishing the beds on a regular basis is more than the school can afford.  In at 
least four other gardens that had been refurbished for Eagle Scout projects or other 
parent/teacher efforts the schools had chosen to use recycled poly-wood due to 
its resiliency. 
 

b. The timers for the sprinklers are complicated and teachers do not know how to 
program them.  In other instances, the school district has removed the timers and 
converted the garden irrigation systems to the same cycle used for the rest of the 
schools’ plantings. And in other instances, all the different watering cycles 
programmed into the timer have been moved to just one watering cycle.   
 

c. The long summer break creates problems for the school gardens.  Either the 
watering cycle continues and the garden is overgrown with weeds when school 
starts again in August, or the garden is not watered over the summer and 
everything has died when school starts. 
 

d. One school noted that the decomposed granite walkways in their school garden 
led to water puddling during rain storms, so the school district eventually paved 
over the pathways with concrete. 
 

e. Two or three schools mentioned that no anti-weed barrier was installed in the base 
of the garden and that the most difficult issue that they face is the constant need 
for weeding to make room for the plants that they want to have in the garden. 

 
Without an evaluation one, two or three years after the garden has been installed, there 
is no opportunity to discover improvements and new ideas for future garden installations.  
A “lessons-learned” exercise with existing sites would provide insights. 
 
  



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 21 of 24 

Recommendation #7:   
Agency staff should develop a post-implementation evaluation of gardens after 
they have been in existence for an agreed upon amount of time. The purpose would 
be to gather feedback and information about the materials and equipment used for 
installing the garden and ensure these meet the school’s needs or if anything 
needs to change.  All parties involved in the installation, including Agency staff 
and most importantly the contractor, CBWCD should observe and discuss the 
following: 
 

• Best materials for garden creation 

• Irrigation effectiveness and how to best demonstrate water-use efficiency 

• Timer systems effectiveness and access to electricity 

• Programmatic implications for the school’s curriculum 

• Proportion of the students with access or involvement with the garden 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 22 of 24 

 



 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 23 of 24 

35 Gardens Physically Observed/Evaluated for this Review: 

 

 

 

Program 

Year 
School City Garden Type 

Aware of 

IEUA 
Other Support Usage 

2004/2005 Alta Loma Elementary Alta Loma Vegetable/Fruit not asked None Minimal 

2004/2005 Edwin Rhodes Elementary Chino Drought Tolerant not asked Parent/Teacher Minimal 

2004/2005 Grant Elementary Fontana Multiple not asked Grants/Sales Curricular/Classroom 

2004/2005 Magnolia Elementary Upland Multiple not asked Custodians Minimal 

2005/2006 Coyote Canyon Elementary 

Rancho 

Cucamonga 
Drought Tolerant not asked Maintenance Minimal 

2005/2006 Newman Elementary Chino Multiple NO Parent/Teacher Minimal 

2005/2006 Ranch View Elementary Ontario Drought Tolerant not asked Parent/Teacher Minimal 

2005/2006 Foothill Knolls Elementary Upland Vegetable/Fruit not asked Parent/Teacher Weekly 

2006/2007 Victoria Groves Elementary  Alta Loma Drought Tolerant NO Custodian None 

2006/2007 Liberty Elementary Ontario Vegetable/Fruit not asked Grants Elective/Class 

2006/2007 Poplar Elementary Fontana Abandoned not asked None None 

2006/2007 Sycamore Elementary Upland Drought Tolerant NO None None 

2007/2008 Chaparral Elementary Chino Hills Vegetable/Fruit not asked Parent/Teacher Weekly - one grade 

2007/2008 Oak Park Elementary Fontana Multiple YES Parent/Teacher Curricular/Classroom 

2007/2008 Our Lady of Lourdes Montclair Abandoned NO None None 

2008/2009 Jasper Elementary Alta Loma Vegetable/Fruit YES Eagle Scout Moderate 

2008/2009 Glenmeade Elementary  Chino Hills Vegetable/Fruit NO Eagle Scout Garden Club 

2008/2009 The Ontario Center Ontario Multiple NO Memorial Fund Garden Club 

2008/2009 Perdew Elementary Etiwanda Vegetable/Fruit not asked Student Donations Minimal 

2009/2010 Mariposa Elementary Ontario Vegetable/Fruit not asked Maintenance Minimal 

2009/2010 Baldy View Elementary Upland Drought Tolerant not asked Grants Minimal 

2010/2011 Montera Elementary Montclair Abandoned NO Teacher/Custodian None 

2011/2012 Los Osos High  

Rancho 

Cucamonga 
Vegetable/Fruit not asked Student Donations Elective/Class 

2011/2012 Monte Vista Elementary Montclair Vegetable/Fruit YES Parent/Teacher Moderate 

2011/2012 Redeemer Lutheran Ontario Vegetable/Fruit NO Parent Volunteer Garden Club 

2012/2013 Etiwanda Intermediate  Etiwanda Multiple not asked Principal/Custodian Elective/Class 

2012/2013 Edison Elementary Ontario Vegetable/Fruit NO School support Garden Club 

2012/2013 Sultana Elementary Ontario Multiple YES School/Teacher Curricular/Classroom 

2012/2013 Vina Danks Middle Ontario Abandoned Not asked None None 

2014/2015 Cal Aero Preserve Academy  Chino Drought Tolerant YES Parent/Teacher Minimal 

2014/2015 Cypress Elementary Fontana Multiple YES Teacher/Custodian Curricular/Classroom 

2015/2016 Alicia Cortez Elementary Chino Multiple YES Eagle Scout Curricular/Classroom 

2015/2016 Eagle Canyon Elementary Chino Hills Multiple YES Parent/Teacher Minimal 

2015/2016 Etiwanda Colony Elementary Etiwanda Multiple YES Girl Scouts/Lowe's Moderate 

2015/2016 John L. Golden Elementary  Etiwanda Multiple YES Parent/Teacher Garden Club 

http://www.alsd.k12.ca.us/pages/Alta_Loma_Elementary
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/16
http://www.fusdweb.com/sites/elem/Grant/default.aspx
http://me-uusd-ca.schoolloop.com/
http://links.schoolloop.com/link/rd?href=736c5f6c696e6b6666303163633065623266687474703a2f2f636365732d6373642d63612e7363686f6f6c6c6f6f702e636f6d2f
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/24
http://links.schoolloop.com/link/rd?href=736c5f6c696e6b6666303163633065623266687474703a2f2f7276732d6d7673642d63612e7363686f6f6c6c6f6f702e636f6d2f
http://www.alsd.k12.ca.us/pages/Victoria_Groves_Elementary
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/22
http://www.fusdweb.com/sites/elem/poplar/default.aspx
http://ses-uusd-ca.schoolloop.com/
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/11
http://www.fusdweb.com/sites/elem/OakPark/default.aspx
http://www.alsd.k12.ca.us/pages/Jasper_Elementary
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/18
http://links.schoolloop.com/link/rd?href=736c5f6c696e6b6666303163633065623266687474703a2f2f7777772e746f63732d637563616d6f6e67612d63612e7363686f6f6c6c6f6f702e636f6d
http://perdew.etiwanda.k12.ca.us/
http://mariposa.omsd.net/
http://bv-uusd-ca.schoolloop.com/
http://montera.omsd.net/
http://links.schoolloop.com/link/rd?href=736c5f6c696e6b6666303163633065623266687474703a2f2f6c6f68732d636a756873642d63612e7363686f6f6c6c6f6f702e636f6d2f
http://montevista.omsd.net/
http://eis.etiwanda.org/
http://edison.omsd.net/
http://sultana.omsd.net/
http://vinadanks.omsd.net/
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/28
http://www.fusdweb.com/sites/elem/Cypress/default.aspx
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/8
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/15
http://teacherweb.com/CA/EtiwandaColonyElementary/SchoolHomePage/
http://golden.etiwanda.org/


 

 

 

Garden in Every School® Program Review 
May 31, 2018 
Page 24 of 24 

Gardens removed since original installation: 

 

Program 

Year 
School City Reason Given 

2004/2005 Butterfield Ranch Elementary  Chino Hills Unknown 

2004/2005 Euclid Elementary  Ontario Unknown 

2004/2005 Lehigh Elementary  Montclair Unknown 

2005/2006 North Tamarind Elementary  Fontana Unknown 

2006/2007 Gerald F. Litel Elementary  Chino Hills Unknown 

2006/2007 Buena Vista Arts-Integrated  Montclair Unknown 

2006-2007 El Rancho Elementary  Chino School Closed 

2007/2008 E.J. Marshall Elementary  Chino Unknown 

2007/2008 Los Amigos Elementary Rancho Cucamonga School Remodeled 

2007/2008 Linda Vista Elementary Ontario School Closed 

2009/2010 Howard Cattle Elementary  Chino Unknown 

2010/2011 Rancho Cucamonga High  Rancho Cucamonga School Remodeled 

2010/2011 Mission Elementary  Ontario Unknown 

2010/2011 Oxford Preparatory Academy Chino School Closed 

2011/2012 Upland High  Upland Unknown 

http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/10
http://euclid.omsd.net/
http://lehigh.omsd.net/
http://www.fusdweb.com/sites/elem/NoTam/default.aspx
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/17
http://buenavista.omsd.net/
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/14
http://www.chino.k12.ca.us/Domain/20
http://links.schoolloop.com/link/rd?href=736c5f6c696e6b6666303163633065623266687474703a2f2f726368732d636a756873642d63612e7363686f6f6c6c6f6f702e636f6d2f.
http://mission.omsd.net/
http://www.uplandhigh.org/

















































































































































	Agenda 1
	Agenda 2
	Action Item 1A
	Action Item 1B
	Information Item 2A
	Information Item 2B
	Information Item 2C
	Information Item 2D



